
 

 
 

Agenda 

 

Page 1 

Cabinet Member for City Services 
 

Time and Date 
2.30 pm on Monday, 5th December, 2022 
 
Place 
Diamond Rooms 1 and 2 - Council House 
 

 

 
1. Apologies   

 
2. Declarations of Interests   

 
3. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Fee Review 2022 - Taxi 

Licensing Mini Review  (Pages 3 - 10) 
 

 Director of Streetscene & Regulatory Services  
 

4. Designating Cycle Route - Charter Avenue  (Pages 11 - 18) 
 

 Report of the Director of Transportation and Highways 
 

5. Outstanding Issues   
 

 There are no outstanding issues 
 

6. Any other items of Public Business   
 

 Any other items of public business which the Cabinet Member decides to take 
as matters of urgency because of the special circumstances involved 
 

Private Business 
 
Nil 
 
 

Julie Newman, Chief Legal Officer, Council House, Coventry 
 
Friday, 25 November 2022 
 
Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lara 
Knight / Caroline Taylor, Governance Services Email: lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk / 
caroline.taylor@coventry.gov.uk 
 
Membership: Councillors M Heaven (Shadow Cabinet Member), P Hetherton (Cabinet 
Member) and G Lloyd (Deputy Cabinet Member) 
 
By invitation Councillors L Bigham 

Public Document Pack



Page 2 

 
Public Access  
Any member of the public who would like to attend the meeting in person is 
encouraged to contact the officer below in advance of the meeting regarding 
arrangements for public attendance. A guide to attending public meeting can be found 
here: https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings 
 
 

Lara Knight / Caroline Taylor, Governance Services  
Email: lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk / 
caroline.taylor@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings


  
Public report 

Cabinet Report  
 

 

Cabinet Member for City Services  5 December 2022 

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for City Services – Councillor P Hetherton  

Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Director of Streetscene & Regulatory Services  
 
Ward(s) affected: 
Not applicable 

Title: 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Fee Review 2022 – Taxi Licensing Mini 
Review 
 

Is this a key decision? 
No 
 

 

 
Executive Summary: 
 
A fee review was undertaken on 12 January 2022 to address the charges made for the 
processing and issuing of licences to drivers and operators to reflect the changes and associated 
costs. 
 
This review resulted in an increase of Driver, Vehicle and Operator fees to reflect the reduction in 
administrative staff and the new role to provide support across the service. 
 
Following this, a further review of fees has been undertaken to reflect staffing, the number of 
licences issued and current costs.  The taxi trade on the 23 August 2022 had a substantial 
increase in the maximum amount of taxi fares that they can charge the public which will offset the 
proposed increases in fees. 

Recommendations: 

It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for City Services: 
 

(A) approve, subject to consideration of any comments received, the proposed fee changes 
detailed in Appendix A; 

 
(B) authorise the Director of Streetscene & Regulatory Services to make the necessary 

arrangements to advertise the applicable proposed fee variations; 

(C) note that if any formal objections are received in response to the statutory notice that a 
further report will be presented on the 8 February 2023.  

 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



2 of 8  

List of Appendices included: 
 

Appendix A – Proposed fee changes 

 

Background papers: 
None 

Other Useful documents 
None 

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny? 
No 

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body? 
No 
 

Will this report go to Council? 
No 

 
 

Page 4



 

Report title: Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Fee Review 2022 – Taxi 
Licensing Mini Review 

 
1. Information / Background 
 
1.1. Section 53(2) and section 70 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

provides that the City Council may charge as fees the reasonable cost of administering and 
enforcing the hackney carriage and private hire licensing function. The fees charged by the 
Taxi Licensing Office are intended to enable the service to operate on a self-financing 
basis. 

 
1.2. A review of fees was carried out in 2021/22 and before that in 2019, which involved 

assessing the resources used for each activity represented by a fee. Any increased costs 
to taxi licensing since 2022 have been managed within available resources. 

 
1.3. On the 23 August 2022 the taxi trade had a substantial increase in the maximum amount of 

taxi fares that they can charge the public, which will offset the proposed increases in fees. 
 
2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for City Services: 
 
(A) approve, subject to consideration of any comments received, the proposed fee changes 

detailed in Appendix A; 
 
(B) authorise the Director of Streetscene & Regulatory Services to make the necessary 

arrangements to advertise the applicable proposed fee variations; 
 
(C) note that if any formal objections are received in response to the statutory notice that a 

further report will be presented on the 8 February 2023  
 
It is proposed to increase charges for the fees as indicated in the tables below;  

 
Licence Fee Current Charge Proposed Charge Increase 

 Hackney 
Carriage 

Private 
Hire 

Hackney 
Carriage 

Private 
Hire 

Hackney 
Carriage 

Private 
Hire 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ 

New Applicant Driver Licence 605 540 675 595 70 55 

Driver Renewal 285 315 30 

Additional Driver Licence 285 315 30 

Driver Re-Grant 305 335 30 
    

New Vehicle 230 255 25 

Vehicle Renewal 200 220 20 

Vehicle Re-Grant 220 240 20 

Vehicle Transfer 20 30 10 

Vehicle Registration Change 30 40 10 

    

New & Renewal Operator 2000 2200 200 

Operator Re-Grant 2040 2245 205 

 
 
A detailed breakdown of these is attached at Appendix A 

Page 5



4 of 8  

 
Ancillary Fees Current 

Charge 
Proposed 

Charge 
Increase 

 £ £ £ 

DBS/DVLA Enquiry 60.00 65.00 5.00 

Hackney Carriage Road Knowledge Test 50.00 55.00 5.00 

Driver Training Course (initial applicants only) 100.00 110.00 10.00 

3 Yearly Driver Refresher Training (Mandatory)*  50.00 55.00 5.00 

Vehicle MOT Inspection 55.00 60.00      5.00 

Vehicle MOT Inspection (re-test) 27.50 30.00 2.50 

 

There would be no change to any other licences and charges. 
 
The above changes are summarised in Appendix A. 
 
These fees will be reviewed annually. 
 
3. Results of consultation undertaken 
 
There is ongoing communication with Unite Union, the body that represents the hackney carriage 
and private hire trade in Coventry. 
 
 
4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 

4.1. If this report is approved, the proposed 2022 changes in drivers’ licence fees and vehicle 
tests/re- tests will be advertised in the Coventry Telegraph on the 9 December 2022.  Any 
objections and the results of the survey received can be considered at your meeting on the 
8 February 2023.  If no objections are received, the proposed fees will come into force on 
the 9 January 2023. 

 
5. Comments from the Chief Operating Officer (Section 151 Officer) and the Chief Legal 

Officer 
 
5.1. Financial implications 
 
 The proposed fee structure has been designed to enable the continued operation of the Taxi 

Licensing Office on a self-financing basis.  Annual reviews of both fees and staffing levels 
will be undertaken alongside any further legislative changes and financial considerations.    
Any shortfall in licensing income during the implementation period will be managed within 
existing resources.  Fee revisions are explained in section 2 with a detailed list of proposed 
fee changes shown in Appendix A. 

 

5.2. Legal implications 
 

Under section 53(2) and section 70 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976, the City Council can only charge a level of fees which is sufficient to cover the 
reasonable costs of administering and enforcing the hackney carriage and private hire 
licensing function. 

 

 The 1976 Act lays down a statutory procedure for varying fees for Hackney Carriage 
Proprietors (i.e. vehicle) licences, Private Hire Vehicle licences and Private Hire Operators’ 
licences.  This procedure involves giving public notice of the proposed changes and a 28-
day objection period.  If objections are made, these must be considered by the Committee 

Page 6



5 of 8  

before the proposed fees, relating to those types of licences, can be implemented. 
 

  
  
 The above statutory procedure does not apply to varying fees for Hackney Carriage and 

Private Hire drivers’ licences.  However, it is considered simpler and fairer if the whole 
proposed fee table including drivers’ licence fees, is advertised and the trade or public are 
given an opportunity to object to any item on the proposed fee table. 

 
 The issue of Hackney Carriage/Private Hire licences and the amount of any charge for their 

issue is excluded from being an ‘executive function’ by Regulation 2(6) and Schedule 1 of 
the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000. 

 

  
6. Other implications 
 
6.1. How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)? 
 
 Ensuring that the public are safe by assessing drivers are fit and proper and vehicles safe. 
 
6.2. How is risk being managed? 
 
 Ensuring that established procedures are followed. 
 
6.3. What is the impact on the organisation? 
 
 None 
 

6.4. Equalities / EIA 
 
 Not applicable 
 

6.5. Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 
 None 
 

6.6. Implications for partner organisations? 
 None 
 

  

Page 7



6 of 8  

Report author(s): 
 
Name and job title: 
Mick Coggins, Senior Licensing & Enforcement Officer 
 
Directorate: 
Streetscene & Regulatory Services Directorate 
 
Tel and email contact: 
024 7683 2183 Taxi.Licensing@coventry.gov.uk Enquiries should be directed to the above 

person. 

 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Directorate 
or 
organisation 

Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or approved 

Contributors:     

Andrew Walster Director of 
Streetscene 
& Regulatory 
Services 

Streetscene & 
Regulatory 
Services 

21/11/2022 24/11/2022 

Lara Knight Governance 
Services Co-
ordinator 

Law & 
Governance 

21/11/2022 22/11/2022 

Sarah Elliott  Head of Fleet 
and Waste 
Management 

Streetscene 
and 
Regulatory 
Services 

21/11/2022 21/11/2022 

     

Names of approvers 
for submission: 
(officers and members) 

    

Finance:  Cath Crosby  Lead 
Accountant – 
Business 
Partner 

Financial 
Management 

21/11/2022 23/11/2022 

Legal:  Syeda Ahmed Regulatory 
Barrister 

Law & 
Governance 

21/11/2022 23/11/2022 

Members: Cllr 
Hetherton 

Cabinet 
Member for 
City Services 

 21/11/2022 24/11/2022 

Page 8

mailto:Taxi.Licensing@coventry.gov.uk


 

Appendices 
 

 
APPENDIX A 

 
 

Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Licensing Proposed Fee Structure 2022 – Proposed Fee 
Increases 

 
 
 

Drivers both Hackney Carriage (HC) and Private Hire (PH) 
 

Cost for New Applicant’s Driver Licence 
 

 Current cost Proposed cost 

Hackney 
Carriage 

Private 
Hire 

Hackney 
Carriage 

Private 
Hire 

Application 85 85 95 95 

DBS / DVLA Cost 60 60 65 65 

Driver Training 100 100 110 110 

Road Knowledge Test (HC only) 50 - 55 - 

Driving / wheelchair assessment 90 70 100 75 

Licence (3 year) 225 225 250 250 

Total £610 £540 £675 £595 

 
Cost for Driver Licence Renewal 

 
 Current cost Proposed cost 

DBS / DVLA Cost 60 65 

Licence (3 year) 225 250 

Mandatory CSE Refresher 
Training 

50 55 

Total £335 £370 

 
Cost for Additional Driver Licence (where a driver already has a HC or PH licence and requires the 
other licence PH or HC in addition) 

 

 
 Current cost Proposed cost 

DBS / DVLA Cost (only if within 
6 months of current licence 
expiring) 

60 65 

Additional Licence (3 year) 225 250 

Total £285 £315 

 
 
 

Cost for Driver Licence Re-Grant (grant licence within 6 months of licence expiring) 
 

 Current cost Proposed cost 

DBS / DVLA Cost 60 65 

Licence (3 year) 245 270 

Mandatory CSE Refresher 
Training 

50 55 

Total £355 £390  

 
 

Page 9



 

Vehicles both Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
 

Cost for New Vehicle Licence 
 

 Current cost Proposed cost 

Licence 230 255 

Taxi Test 55   60 

Total £285 £315 

 
Cost for Vehicle Licence Renewal 

 
 Current cost Proposed cost 

Vehicle Licence 200 220 

Taxi Test 55  60 

Total £255 £280 

 
Cost for Vehicle Licence Re-Grant (grant licence within 90 days of licence expiring) 

 
 Current cost Proposed cost 

Vehicle Licence 220 240 

Taxi Test 55 60 

Total £275 £300 

 
Operators 

 

Cost for Operators (New and Renewal) 
 

 Current cost Proposed cost 

Operator’s Licence 2000 2200 

Total £2000 £2000 

 
Cost for Operators Re-Grant of Licence (Grant licence within 6 months of licence expiring) 

 
 Current cost Proposed cost 

Operator’s Licence 2040 2240 

Total £2040 £2240 

 
 

N.B. – DBS’s may be requested by the Taxi Licensing Office at anytime and the new pricing 
will be as in the above tables.  As of the 26 January 2023 licensed hackney carriage and 
private hire drivers will be required to undertake six-monthly DBS’s unless they have 
subscribed to the DBS Update Service. 

 
 

Page 10




 

Public report 
Cabinet Member Report 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Member for City Services 5 December 2022 
 
 
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for City Services – Councillor P Hetherton 
 
Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Director of Transportation and Highways 
 
Ward(s) affected: 
Wainbody 
 
Title: 
Designating cycle route – Charter Avenue 
 
 
Is this a key decision?  
 
No  
 

 
Executive Summary: 
 
Through the government’s Emergency Active Travel Fund programme, a cycle lane was created 
on Charter Avenue between Cannon Hill Road and Sir Henry Parkes Road to improve access to 
the University of Warwick. Works to install segregation kerbs along the cycle route will start in 
January.  This report seeks approval to make a ‘cycle track’ utilising the Council’s powers under 
the Highways Act 1980.  
 
Recommendations: 
 
The Cabinet Member is requested to: 
 

i) Approve the creation of the cycle track shown in figures 1, 2 and 3; and 
 

ii) Note the advertising of a Traffic Regulation Order to revoke the existing Cycle Lane 
 
 
List of Appendices included: 
 
None 
 
Background papers: 
 
None 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 

  

Other useful documents 
 
City of Coventry (Charter Avenue) (Two Way Cycle Lane) (Experimental) Order 2020 
  
City of Coventry (Charter Avenue) (Two Way Cycle Lane) (Permanent) Order 2022 
 
Designating Cycle Routes, December 2020 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
No 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?  
No 
 
Will this report go to Council?  
No 
 
 
 

  

Page 12



 

  

Report title: Designating Cycle Routes Charter Avenue 
 
 
1. Context (or background) 
 
1.1 Through the government’s Emergency Active Travel Fund programme, a cycle lane was 

provided on Charter Avenue, Canley between the A45 and Sir Henry Parkes Road, 
improving access by cycle from the city centre to the University of Warwick campus. Works 
to install segregation kerbs along the cycle route will start in January and this report seeks 
approval to officially designate it as a ‘cycle track’ utilising the Council’s powers under the 
Highways Act. This cycle track would become part of the National Cycle Network and 
connect to Kenilworth via an improved cycle route along Lynchgate Road. 

 
2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
2.1 Options to enhance the cycle route between the A45 and Sir Henry Parkes Road have 

been considered, including observation of traffic using Charter Avenue.   
 
2.2 The first option considered was to maintain the existing alignment on the carriageway on 

Charter Avenue and provide additional light segregation. 
 

2.3 An alternative option considered was to relocate the route into the verge on the south side 
of Charter Avenue, but this was not deemed practical due to underground services.       

 
2.4 The recommended proposal, shown in figure 1 below, maintains the existing alignment of 

the cycle route on the carriageway, except at the two bus stops where the cycle track is set 
back to allow buses to pull in.  This arrangement allows space for cars to overtake 
stationary buses.  This preferred option creates a permanent 2 way cycle track on Charter 
Avenue between Cannon Hill Road in the east and Sir Henry Parkes Road in the west. This 
requires the revocation of the cycle lane Traffic Regulation Order and changing a short 
section of footway to cycle track at the bus stops as shown in figures 2 and 3 below  

 
2.5 Pursuant to Section 329 of the Highways Act 1980 is a ‘Cycle Track’ is defined as means a 

 way constituting or comprised in a highway, being a way over which the public have the 
following, but no other, rights of way, that is to say, a right of way on pedal cycles (other 
than pedal cycles which are motor vehicles within the meaning of the Road Traffic Act 
1988) with or without a right of way on foot; 

Page 13

https://uk.westlaw.com/Document/I5FFAEF41E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&ppcid=f8b63ea0205346ada33a5d6d9d1dbf17&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.westlaw.com/Document/I5FFAEF41E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&ppcid=f8b63ea0205346ada33a5d6d9d1dbf17&contextData=(sc.DocLink)


 

  

Location Plans: 
 
Figure 1: Location Plan – Charter Avenue Cycle Track 
 
 

 
 
© Crown Copyright Reserved © Coventry City Council Licence No. 100026294 
 
 
Figure 2: Location Plan – Charter Avenue Bus Stop (west of Cannon Hill Road) 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 

  

Figure 3: Location Plan – Charter Avenue Bus Stop (east of Sir Henry Parkes Road) 
 

 
 
 
3. Results of consultation undertaken 

 
3.1 A consultation carried out in March 2021 found that 85% of respondents supported 

segregated cycleways, which are physically separated from vehicular traffic.  The resulting 
scheme proposals have taken on board feedback in terms of arrangements at bus stops 
and allowing cars to pass buses.  The scheme is supported by the University of Warwick 
and forms the first phase of a network to serve Canley, Cannon Park and the campus via 
Lynchgate Road. 

 
4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
4.1 In the event approval is given for these designations, the appropriate signage and 

infrastructure will be implemented in the 2022/23 financial year. 
 

5. Comments from Chief Operating Officer (Section 151 Officer) and Chief Legal Officer 
 
5.1 Financial implications 
 
 The implementation of the cycle track will be funded from the grant allocation of £0.25M 

from the Department for Transport’s Active Travel Fund, administered through the West 
Midlands Combined Authority.  Contingency and impact of inflation have been assessed 
and built in within the budget. Any cost pressures on the budget will be managed within the 
transportation service area. 

 
5.2 Legal implications 
 
 As a local highway authority, the Council may, pursuant to powers pursuant to s.65 of the 

Highways Act 1980, construct in or by the side of a highway maintainable at the public 
expense a cycle track which forms part of the highway. Under the Council's Constitution, 
these powers are not delegated to officers. 

 
   
 The proposed revocation of the Traffic Regulation Order referred to in this report may be 

advertised pursuant to existing delegated powers in favour of the Director of Transportation 
and Highways and made pursuant to powers contained in the Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984. 
  

Page 15



 

  

6. Other implications 
 

6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)?  
 
 These proposals support the Council’s core aims, as set out in the Council Plan, by: 

improving health and wellbeing by helping local residents lead healthier lifestyles by 
increasing the opportunities for cycling.  In addition, the works will promote the growth of a 
sustainable economy by helping local people to access employment opportunities and also 
increase access to arts, sports and cultural opportunities    

  
6.2 How is risk being managed? 
 
 There are no significant risks associated with the project. Works are minimal and low risk. 

The overall costs are also relatively low, and any additional costs can be managed within 
the budget available. 

 
6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 
 
 None  

 
6.4 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 

 
An Equality Impact Assessment was undertaken for the earlier scheme and no adverse 
negative impact was identified. Further monitoring and evaluation will be undertaken and 
the schemes will be subject to amendment if/as required.  

   
6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 

 
 The works will have a positive impact on the environment by improving the cycle network 

within, making cycling a more attractive travel option for local journeys, thereby 
encouraging modal shift from car to cycling for such journeys. 

 
6.6 Implications for partner organisations? 
 
 None  
 

Page 16

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


 

  

Report author(s): 
 
Name and job title: 
 
John Seddon – Head of Transport and Innovation 
 
Directorate: 
 
Transportation and Highways 
 
Tel and email contact: 
024 7697 7282  
john.seddon@coventry.gov.uk  
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Service Area Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Names of approvers for 
submission: (officers and 
members) 

    

Finance: Sunny Heer Lead 
Accountant 

Finance 22.11.22 23.11.22 

Legal: Rob Parkes Team Leader 
(Place) 

Law and 
Governance 

22.11.22 23.11.22 

Director: Colin Knight Director 
Transportation 
and Highways 

Transportation 
and Highways 

22.11.22 22.11.22 

Governance: Lara Knight Governance 
Services Co-
ordinator 

Law and 
Governance 

22.11.22 22.11.22 

Members: Councillor 
Hetherton 

Cabinet Member 
City Services 

 23.11.22 24.11.22 

     

 
 

This report is published on the council's website: 
www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings  
 

Page 17

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Fee Review 2022 - Taxi Licensing Mini Review
	4 Designating Cycle Route - Charter Avenue

